## AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

## TARGETING DYSBIOSIS OF DIABETES AND COLORECTAL CANCER: GUT A FEELING, IT PLAYS A ROLE

by SARA NABIL BITAR

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science to the Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology, and Physiological Sciences of the Faculty of Medicine at the American University of Beirut

> Beirut, Lebanon May 3, 2019

## AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

## TARGETING DYSBIOSIS OF DIABETES AND COLORECTAL CANCER: GUT A FEELING, IT PLAYS A ROLE

by

## Sara Nabil Bitar

Approved by:

Dr. Assaad A. Eid, Associate Professor Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology, and Physiological Sciences

Dr. Ali Taher, Professor Department of Internal Medicine Co-Advisor

Member of Committee

Dr. Abdo Jurjus, Professor Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology, and Physiological Sciences

Dr. Rihab Nasr, Associate Professor Department of Anatomy, Cell Biology, and Physiological Sciences

Member of Committee

Date of thesis defense: May 3, 2019

## AMERICAN UNIVERSITY OF BEIRUT

## THESIS, DISSERTATION, PROJECT RELEASE FORM

Student Name:Bitar		Sara	SaraNabi	
Last		Firs	First Mide	
Master's Thesis		Master's Project		Doctoral Dissertation

I authorize the American University of Beirut to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of my thesis, dissertation, or project; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes.

I authorize the American University of Beirut, to: (a) reproduce hard or electronic copies of it; (b) include such copies in the archives and digital repositories of the University; and (c) make freely available such copies to third parties for research or educational purposes after : **One** ---- **year from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.** 

Two ---- years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

Three X years from the date of submission of my thesis, dissertation, or project.

May

Signature

Date

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The work presented in this manuscript would not be possible if it weren't for the sincere help I pertained from the people around me. It goes without doubt that they are the true pillars behind my journey and a thank you falls too short to repay them. Nonetheless, thank you Dr. Assaad Eid for believing in me since day one, for your unorthodox methods of letting us be our own supervisors, and your drive to aid us in any possible way. Thank you Dr. Ali Taher my co-advisor for your support. Thank you Mohamad Noureldeine, my mentor, for helping me relentlessly and teaching me everything I know unconditionally. Thank you Dr. Frederic Harb for teaching us statistics for dummies effectively. Thank you to my parents and Lynno for pushing me forth and always believing in me even when I did not advocate for me at times. A big thank you to my lab members for giving me a second family throughout all this time and for being the people I can turn to in hard times in both work and in spirit. Namely, Maya and Marina thank you for sharing these two years with me filled with laughter, kindness, and shoulders to lean on. Thank you to AUB for this fruitful experience, I am forever grateful.

# AN ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS OF

Sara Nabil Bitar for Master of Science Major: Physiology

## Title: <u>Targeting dysbiosis of diabetes and colorectal cancer</u>; <u>Gut a feeling, it plays a role</u> <u>Introduction</u>:

In healthy individuals, the gut microbiota favors good butyrate-forming bacteria; this balance is shown to be revoked during diabetic-associated dysbiosis. Butyrate is a short chain fatty acid (SCFA) that acts as a histone deactylase inhibitor (HDAC) and is speculated to play a crucial role in mediating diabetic complications through inhibiting inflammation and ROS production. Previous work by our group demonstrated that ROS production is prevailing in the course of diabetes-associated complications. In this project we aim to study the role of diabetic and colorectal cancer dysbiosis and butyrate or probiotics on the development of diabetes-associated complications with a focus on diabetes and colon cancer onset and development.

## Methods:

HT-29 were used in this project where proliferation via the viability assay was assessed. To confirm our in vitro observations, *MKR* and *APC* mice models were used. The effect of probiotics or butyrate supplement on the microbiota of the diabetic and the APC mice was assessed using biochemical and molecular techniques. After sacrifice, colons were harvested for biochemical, histological, and molecular analysis.

## **<u>Results</u>:**

HT-29, colorectal cell line, were cultured either in 5mM media(Normal glucose; NG) or in diabetic mimicking media of 25mM (high glucose; HG). In parallel, experiment cells were treated with 0.75 mM butyrate in the presence or absence of HG. Butyrate treatment decreased HT-29 cellular proliferation starting at 12 hours and this was sustained throughout the whole length of the experiment. Furthermore, in animal models of diabetes and cancer, probiotics or butyrate treatment reversed the alteration seen in the autophagy pathway, where beclin-1 and LC-3 $\beta$  were comparable to that of control mice. By to by treatment with probiotics or butyrate reversed diabetes- and cancer-induced complications. Taken together, our results suggest that dysbiosis associated with both diabetes and colon cancer impair autophagy through oxidative stress and this can be reversed by butyrate or probiotic treatment.

## **Conclusion**:

Dysbiosis characterized by reduction of butyrate-forming bacteria leading to a decreased butyrate is a key player in diabetes and colon cancer. Restoring gut microbiota homeostasis via probiotics or butyrate administration show a protective effect on reducing diabetes induced colon injury in *MKR* mice as well as a decrease in polyp formation in the *APC* cancer mice. This effect is paralleled by restoring autophagy homeostasis and decreasing oxidative stress. Pursuing this mechanism and the pathways it intercalates offers a promising insight into identifying novel treatment for diabetes, cancer, or diabetes-induced cancer.

# CONTENTS

ACK	NOWLEDGMENTS v
ILLU	USTRATIONS x
LIST	OFTABLESxi
LIST	OF ABBREVIATIONS xi
Chap	ter
I.	INTRODUCTION
	A. Diabetes Mellitus: General Overview
	1. Classification of diabetes
	a.Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus
	b.Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus
	c.Gestational Diabetes
	d.Other Specific Types
	2. Diabetes Mellitus: Tests for Diagnosis
	3. Diabetes Mellitus: Complications
	4. Cancer in Diabetes
	a.The Diabetic Colorectum
	B. Colon Cancer
	1. Staging and Oncogenesis
	2. The Role of Hyperglycemia/Hyperinsulinemia in Colon Cancer Progression
	C. Microbiota 11
	1. Microbiota in Diabetes 11
	2. Microbiota in Colon Cancer
	3. Diabetes, Colon Cancer, and the Microbiota: A love-hate relationship: 12
	4. Probiotics
	5. Short Chain Fatty Acids: Butyrate

	D. Autophagy: Overview and its implications in health and disease	14
	1. Autophagy in Diabetes	15
	2. Autophagy in colon cancer	15
	E. Oxidative Stress, Diabetes, and Colon Cancer	15
	1. Reactive Oxygen Species and their Role in Homeostatic Maintenance	15
	2. Oxidative Stress in Diabetic Complications	16
	3. Oxidative Injury and Carcinogenesis	16
	4. NADPH oxidases in Colon and Carcinogenesis	17
	F. TIGAR in Diabetes and Colon Cancer	18
	G. Aim	19
II. N	MATERIALS AND METHODS	20
	A. In vivo	20
	1. Animal Models	20
	2. Drugs Administered	20
	3. Sacrifice and Organ Harvesting:	21
	4. HbA1c Measurement	21
	5. Colon Length and Polyps Counting2	21
	B. In vitro	22
	1. Cell Line	22
	2. Viability Assay: Trypan Blue Exclusion Assay	22
	C. Molecular Work	22
	1. Western Blot	22
	2. Real- time PCR	24
	3. PAS staining	24
	4. Detection of SuperOxide via HPLC	24
III.	RESULTS	25
	A. In Vivo	25

1. Body weight and blood Glucose:
2. Microbiota of MKR diabetic mice contains less Bacteroid fragilis and butyrate- forming bacteria
3. Fecal butyrate contents are significantly lower in diabetic MKR mice and APC mice when compared to control non-diabetic and control cancer free mice
4. Gut Anatomy is altered in the diabetic animals
B. Cell Culture:
C. Autophagy alteration in diabetes and cancer was homeostatically restored upon butyrate and probiotic treatment
1. LC-3β
2. ATG-12
3. Beclin-1
D. ROS production and NADPH Oxidase Activity
1. ROS Production
2. NOX4 expression in MKR and APC mice
E. TIGAR Expression is altered in APC mice groups with no visible change in MKR mice groups:
IV. DISCUSSION
CONCLUSION
LIMITATIONS
REFERENCES

# ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure	Page
1. Colorectal cancer happens at various stages 1 to 4	15
2. Schematic Representation of the hypothesis	26
3. Gut microbiota in control and diabetic mice	36
4. Butyrate producing bacterial fraction in MKR and APC	37
5. Colon length in MKR mice models	39
6. Polyps number in APC m ice models	.39
7. Histological observations: PAS staining on colon tissue of APC mice models	.40
8. Trypan Blue Exclusion Assay	.41
9. LC3-β expression in MKR mice models	42
10. LC3-β expression in APC mice models	.43
11. ATG-12 expression in MKR mice models	43
12. ATG-12 expression in APC mice models	.44
13. Beclin-1 protein expression in MKR mice models	.44
14. Beclin-1 protein expression in APC mice models	45
15. HPLC in MKR and APC mice models	46
16. NOX4 expression in MKR mice models	47
17. NOX4 expression in APC mice models	47
18. TIGAR expression in MKR mice models	.48
19. TIGAR expression in APC mice models	.49

# LIST OF TABLES

Table	Page
1. Primary Antibodies dilution and Source	
2. Real time PCR Primers sequences	
3. Body Weight, Blood Glucose, and HbA1c of MKR mice Models	
4. Body Weight, Blood Glucose, and HbA1c of APC mice models	27

# LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- DM: Diabetes Mellitus
- CRC: colorectal cancer
- NG: Normal Glucose
- HG: High Glucose
- ATG: Autophagy related protein
- HDAC: Histone deacelytase
- PAS: Periodic acid Schiff
- HPLC: High performance liquid chromatography
- ROS: reactive oxygen species
- PCR: polymerase chain reaction
- HbA1c: hemoglobin A1c
- T1DM: type 1 diabetes mellitus
- T2DM: type 2 diabetes mellitus
- GDM: gestational diabetes mellitus
- FBG: fasting blood glucose
- BG: blood glucose
- BW: body weight
- OGTT: oral glucose tolerance test
- ADA: American diabetes association
- WHO: world health organization
- IGF: insulin like growth factors
- NADPH: Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate
- NOX: NADPH oxidase

## CHAPTER I

## **INTRODUCTION**

## A. Diabetes Mellitus: General Overview

Diabetes mellitus is a group of metabolic diseases characterized by hyperglycemia resulting from defects in insulin secretion, insulin action, or both. According to the International Diabetes Federation, it is estimated that DM affects 415 million of the world adult population (International Diabetes Federation, 2015). The incidence of the diabetes epidemic is on the rise and it is expected to rise beyond 592 million in 2035<sup>1</sup>. Furthermore, in the Middle East and North Africa region (MENA), the prevalence of diabetes has increased due to many factors mainly urbanization and lifestyle changes. In 2013, countries in the MENA region were among the areas with the highest rates of diabetes worldwide, whereby 9.2% of the adult population was diagnosed which is equivalent to 34.6 million people. This number is expected to increase to almost 67.9 million in 2035. In fact, Lebanon ranks the 7th in the top 10 countries for prevalence in the MENA region bearing 14.99% of diabetic cases<sup>2</sup>. In a population-based study predominantly type II DM was found to be a leading cause of mortality among the Lebanese population, with 8.5% issued a diagnosis<sup>3</sup>.

Diabetes mellitus can be classified into 4 main categories, Type I DM, Type II DM, gestational diabetes and other specific types. Type 1 diabetes mellitus (T1DM), also called insulin-dependent diabetes, results from an autoimmune destruction of  $\beta$  cells. Type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), termed insulin-independent diabetes, encompasses patients with insulin resistance. The third type is gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM) which occurs during the second or third trimester of pregnancy. However, most cases of GDM resolve after pregnancy.

The commonly experienced and clinically relevant symptoms include frequent thirst, polyuria, tiredness, lack of interest and concentration, blurred vision, tingling sensation or numbness in the hands or feet, weight loss/gain, which is sometimes accompanied with polyphagia, and poor wound healing<sup>4</sup>.

## 1. Classification of diabetes

## a. Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus

Insulin Dependent Diabetes Mellitus (IDDM) or juvenile-onset diabetes is commonly referred to as Type I DM<sup>4</sup>. This form develops as a result of the autoimmune destruction of the insulin-producing  $\beta$ -cells of the pancreas, thus leading to insulin deficiency<sup>5</sup>. It is reported that Type I DM is associated with a genetic predisposition; however, there have been speculations that environmental factors may play a role in inducing autoimmune destruction of  $\beta$ -cells, but these are still poorly understood. Type I DM accounts for about 10% of patients with diabetes and is most commonly reported to occur in children and teenagers<sup>6</sup> although it may appear during adulthood as well. This disease is affiliated with a sudden onset whereby the absence of insulin production leaves patients dependent on exogenous insulin administration for their survival<sup>7,8</sup>. Despite active research, Type I diabetes has no cure, and carries the constant threat of devastating complications.

#### b. Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus

Previously referred to as Non-Insulin Dependent Diabetes Mellitus (NIDDM) or adult-onset diabetes mellitus<sup>4</sup>, this form of diabetes is characterized by insulin resistance in peripheral tissues and a relative insulin deficiency<sup>6</sup>. It is the more prevalent form of diabetes mellitus and accounts for about 85% of the cases worldwide<sup>6,9</sup>. Type II diabetes is often associated with a strong genetic component, yet the risk of incidence increases with age, obesity, and lack of physical activity, which suggests that environmental factors are important contributors to the disease<sup>8,10</sup>. In fact, studies have shown that obesity itself or increased percentage of body fat in the

abdominal region is tightly correlated with insulin resistance<sup>11,12</sup>. Defective insulin secretion is central to the pathophysiology of type 2 diabetes. Patients with type 2 diabetes fail to adequately increase insulin secretion in order to overcome insulin resistance. The progression of the deterioration of pancreatic  $\beta$  cell function results in a sustained increase of blood glucose. This deterioration might be a possible explanation of why patients with T2DM might develop into T1DM.

## c. Gestational Diabetes

This type of diabetes is a major medical complication occurring during the second or third trimester of pregnancy. In some cases, GDM does not resolve after delivery thus increasing the risk of developing diabetes later in life<sup>13</sup>. The prevalence of gestational diabetes ranges from 1% to 14% and this is population-dependent with certain ethnicities being at a higher risk<sup>4,8,14</sup>.

## d. Other Specific Types

Diabetes may further manifest as other types which may be genetically defined or associated with other diseases or drugs such as: exocrine pancreas disease (ex. pancreatitis), viral infections, endocrinopathies (ex. Cushing's syndrome), and insulin receptor antibodies<sup>15</sup>.

## 2. Diabetes Mellitus: Tests for Diagnosis

Diagnosis of diabetes mellitus is achieved through three main laboratory tests. Fasting blood glucose, also considered as the simplest diagnostic test, consists of measuring blood glucose after at least 8 hours of fasting. Another test is the glucose tolerance test where the patient is given a fixed amount of glucose (75g) to be ingested orally two hours before blood glucose measurement. This test allows the assessment how fast glucose is cleared from the bloodstream. Lastly, the most accurate test for the diagnosis of diabetes is Hemoglobin  $A_{IC}$  (HbA1c). Hemoglobin is a protein in red blood cells that carries oxygen throughout the body. When glucose builds up in the bloodstream, it tends to bind to hemoglobin in red blood cells. Red blood cells have a life span of around 3 months; hence, this test allows the screening for the

amount of glycated hemoglobin for the past 3 months. It is noteworthy to mention that, unfortunately, 1 in 4 people are unaware that they have diabetes. These diagnostic tests serve as screening tools for the early detection of diabetes mellitus and ultimately allow the early treatment before the development of its complications<sup>16</sup>. According to American Diabetes Association (ADA), diabetes may be diagnosed based on plasma glucose criteria, either the fasting plasma glucose (FPG) or the 2-h plasma glucose (2-h PG) value during a 75-g oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT), or A1C criteria. A patient is said to have diabetes if he or she presents with the following lab values: fasting plasma glucose > or = to 126 mg/dL, OGGT > or = to 11.1 mmol/L or A1C > or = to 6.5 %.

## 3. Diabetes Mellitus: Complications

It is no secret that diabetes mellitus is a ruthless disease not merely with the associated metabolic outcomes it presents and the strain it places on the body, but also with the vigorous complications it drags along. Chronic complications of diabetes are broadly divided into microvascular and macrovascular complications, with the former having a higher prevalence than the latter. Microvascular complications include neuropathy, nephropathy, and retinopathy, recently known as the triopathy, while macrovascular complications consist of stroke, cardiovascular disease, and peripheral artery disease<sup>17</sup>. Numerous epidemiological, observational and cohort studies have established the risk of cancer development in diabetic individuals with either Type I or Type II DM<sup>18-20</sup>. Furthermore, diabetes being a current epidemic predicted to rise in incidence in the future poses as a burden on diabetic individuals with the risk of cancer development.

## 4. Cancer in Diabetes

Among the leading causes of mortality worldwide, cancer prevalence is predicted to increase by 70% globally<sup>21</sup>. Several risk factors integrate with the risk of cancer incidence in patients, namely physical and chemical carcinogens such as UV, radiation, tobacco and alcohol,

and biological carcinogens such as infections. Other life-style based risks exist such as age, body-mass index, obesity, weight, poor diet, smoking and sedentary to low physical activity<sup>21,22</sup>. Some of these risk factors are shared with the 12<sup>th</sup> leading cause of death worldwide, diabetes. Thus, speculations to the extent to which diabetes may contribute to cancer development among patients were raised.

In a meta-analysis study, cancer incidence among individuals with preexisting diabetes was reported to be associated with a higher all-cause mortality risk relative to non-diabetics<sup>23</sup>. The data identified hyperinsulinemia (also known as secondary diabetes) as a diabetic factor rather than hyperglycemia as a contributor to an elevated risk of colon cancer among type II diabetic subjects in response to insulin treatment<sup>24</sup>. Finally, although most of the epidemiological evidence links the prevalence of cancer to the more prevalent form of diabetes, type II, a growing body of data, however limited, indicates an elevated risk among type I patients as well<sup>25-27</sup>. Nevertheless, the mechanisms by which cancer progression occurs in diabetes are still under investigation.

Diabetogenic cancer onset has been shown to develop by cause of numerous pathways. Metabolic disorders associated with diabetes such as hyperglycemia, hyperinsulinemia and inflammation have been described to be key modulators of neoplastic growth<sup>28-32</sup>. This multifactorial pathogenesis is dependent on mediators such as cytokines, hormones and growth factors that play a prominent role in metabolic signaling and function. The coupled diabetic duo, glucose and insulin, influence mitogenic and oncogenic pathways that are normally tightly regulated.

Insulin and the Insulin-like growth factor (IGF) receptors have been shown to be expressed on the surface of most cancerous cells. In a breast cancer cell line, it was shown that the downregulation of IGF receptor expression in cancerous cells elevated their sensitivity to insulin, and reduced the malignancy, proliferation and metastatic potential<sup>33</sup>. IGF receptors have

also been shown to play a role in hyperinsulinemia-dependent carcinogenesis. Through its indirect effects, exogenous insulin attenuates the levels of IGF binding protein production by the liver, which in turn leads to the increased availability of biologically active IGF levels in the blood, further enhancing the proliferative and mitogenic effect on neoplastic growth<sup>29 34,35</sup>.

Additionally, diabetes and cancer reciprocate influence onto pathways that aggravate the complexity of the disease. With glucose being the central biological linkage that integrates with both etiologies, the Warburg hypothesis actually explains the energetics of tumorigenesis and suggests the significance of insulin-independent glucose uptake by cancerous cells and their reliance on glycolysis as a powerhouse for cellular survival<sup>36-38</sup>.

Diabetes is a metabolic disorder that is associated with complex metabolic 'organs' such as adipose tissue and lipids. This imparts a risk in inflammatory cytokine signaling changes that manifest as inflammation. Such factors include adipokines which have been reported to be associated with insulin resistance and diabetes, that influence proinflammatory cytokine (interleukins and tumor necrosis factor) release<sup>39,40</sup>. In a recent study, the roles of the adipokines were examined for their insulin-modulating effect in diabetes. The results were indicative of fluctuating levels of certain adipokines in the serum of diabetic patients, and were reported to play a role in mesotheliomas, gastric cancer, as well as colon cancer<sup>41</sup>. These complex pathways have been linked to tumorigenesis and tumor invasive potential as well as an overall weakened immunity in patients<sup>42</sup>. Together, this suggests that diabetes-associated manifestations such as hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia may contribute to and facilitate carcinogenesis especially with chronic, poor glucose management in diabetic patients<sup>43,44</sup>.

## a. The Diabetic Colorectum

Colorectal physiology has been increasingly shown to be vulnerable to inflammation, infection, colitis, inflammatory bowel disease, constipation, diverticulitis and diverticulosis, polyp formation and cancer <sup>45,46</sup>. In fact, all of these are bridged to a number of risk factors such

as sedentary life styles, poor habits such as alcohol consumption and tobacco use, diet, obesity, genetic mutations, and most importantly diabetes<sup>28,47</sup>. With special emphasis on colonic complications and the overlapping risks with diabetes, colon pathophysiology has been shown to be especially influenced by diabetes and its complex pathologies<sup>29,45,48</sup>.

Numerous studies in experimental models of diabetes have reported the implications of diabetes in colon remodeling and malfunction. The data revealed dimensional increases in area and dilation concurrent with significant reductions in muscular tunic, colonic wall thickness, muscular fiber tone and neuronal myeneteric innervation and population<sup>49,50</sup>. In a recent study, Siegman et al., (2016) described the effects of diabetes in Streptozotocin-treated Sprague-Dawley rats. Muscles cells from the colonic mucosa were reported to undergo hypertrophy characterized by elevated DNA levels and extracellular matrix protein (such as collagen) expression under hyperglycemia. These structural modifications were paralleled with muscular stiffness, which contributes to poor dilatory capacity and physiological dysfunction<sup>51</sup>.

#### **B.** Colon Cancer

#### 1. Staging and Oncogenesis

As mentioned earlier, epidemiological studies provide strong evidence that diabetic subjects are at a significantly higher risk of developing numerous forms of cancer and solid tumors, at a higher rate of occurrence and progression relative to the general population <sup>52-54</sup>. Colon cancers are actually among the frequently reported in diabetic patients with a risk ranging from 1.2 to 1.5<sup>55</sup>. Indeed, the impact of diabetes on colon cancer patients' disease-free and overall survival and recurrence of the malignancy was reported to be worse in comparison to non-diabetic patients<sup>56</sup>.

Despite major advancements in cancer research, colon cancer remains the third most common type of cancer. A recent World Health Organization (WHO) report revealed that in 2015 alone, colorectal cancer estimated 774000 lives globally. For the year 2018, the American Cancer Society estimated 97,220 new cases of colon cancer and 43,030 new cases of rectal cancer in the United States.

Colon cancer affects the colon (Ascending, Descending, or transverse) and the rectum area of the large intestine. Three main phenotypes can be classified as follows; non-cancerous, precancerous, and cancerous. Non-cancerous begins as a non-cancerous polyp that grows slowly on the inner lining of the colon or rectum. The precancerous phase is an adenomatous polyp or adenoma. Less than one tenth of these adenomas might progress into cancer. There are several different types of polyps of which the most prominent is adenomatous polyps. The second most common polyps are flat polyps (which are not easily detected with a colonoscopy), and the third is hyperplastic polyps. Furthermore, colon cancer may be divided into four main stages depicted in **Figure 1**.



Figure 1: Colorectal cancer transformation happens at various stages 1 to 4. Adapted from: Modern Cancer Hospital Guangzhou, 2012 (http://www.asiancancer.com/cancer-topics/newintestinal/).

Stage I is when the tumor has grown through the inner bowel lining reaching the muscle wall of the bowel. Stage 2 is a tumor that has grown through the outer bowel lining but without the involvement of nearby tissue or lymph nodes. Stage 3 is when the tumor has grown into the muscle layers of the intestine and has spread to at least 1-3 lymph nodes. Stage 4 refers to cancer that has spread to a distant part of the body, such as the lungs or liver.

The oncologic pathogenesis of colon cancer is a multi-factorial etiology and much research goes to unravel the mechanisms through which benign growths turn into malignancies. Numerous studies show that colon cancer tumor development and malignant transformations possess genetic and epigenetic components that govern cellular pathways. One of the most important genes contributing to adenoma formation and responsible for the autosomal-dominant disease known as familial adenomatous polyposis is the adenoma polyposis coli (APC) gene<sup>57</sup>. The APC gene triggers colonic adenoma development throughout the colon of these patients at a young age<sup>57</sup>. Mutations in the APC gene have been linked to colon cancer progression in the early stages<sup>58</sup> and have been described to prevent the apoptotic death of colonic neoplastic growth in the early phases by conferring cyclin D1 over expression<sup>59</sup>.

A second distinctive mechanism of colon cancer tumorigenesis involves defects in the DNA Mismatch Repair system which is pivotal for proofreading and nucleotide repair during replication<sup>60</sup>. These defects are further associated with microsatellite instability<sup>61</sup>. These represent molecular pathways whereby the aforementioned repair system is disabled exacerbating the rate of mutations typically described in another form of colon cancer, hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer<sup>60</sup>.

There are several phenotypic changes associated with colon cancer. Besides the malignant growth characterized as polyps, the length of the colon also varies depending on the degree of inflammation. Studies have shown that increased inflammation is associated with a shorter colon length due to decreased surface area, thus, leading to constipation and cramping <sup>3</sup>. Bleeding is also observed in the colon of colon cancer patients manifested as bloody stools.

## 2. The Role of Hyperglycemia/Hyperinsulinemia in Colon Cancer Progression

Several pathways by which colon cancer progresses are intimately affected by hyperglycemia/diabetes. Within this context, extensive research indicates that an association exists between elevated glucose levels or glycated hemoglobin levels and the predisposition to

colon cancer malignancies <sup>28,42</sup>. Indeed, clinical studies reported that patients with poorly controlled Type II DM have more right sided and advanced colon cancer, a younger age of presentation, greater use of exogenous insulin, and a poorer 5-year survival<sup>62</sup>. In another study, epidemiological data revealed the relationship between fasting serum glucose and DM and the risk of all cancers as well as specific cancers in men and women. The study found that elevated fasting serum glucose concentrations and DM are risk factors for the development of cancer in several tissues including colon cancer<sup>63</sup>. The age-adjusted incidence and mortality rate for colon cancer in this study were increased in both genders too<sup>63</sup>. Treatments with glucose-lowering agents in diabetic patients with developed colon cancer have showed an improved survival outcome<sup>40</sup>. Together these data imply that hyperglycemia plays a significant role in diabetesinduced cancer onset. However, further diabetes-associated abnormalities, such as hyperinsulinemia, are shown to also be involved in colon tumorigenesis as well<sup>64,65</sup>. This was observed in a retrospective cohort study whereby Type II DM patients going through insulin therapy were followed to investigate colon cancer occurrence. The data from this cohort indicated a positive correlation between duration of exogenous insulin administration and colon cancer risk<sup>19</sup>. Emphasis on insulin signaling is placed alongside hyperglycemia due to the complications that arise as a result of insulin treatments. In type 2 diabetes, insulin levels become exaggerated mainly due to peripheral resistance, which leads to the overproduction of insulin in a deleterious and cyclic manner. Insulin administered exogenously further exacerbates these outcomes, leading to colon cancer as epithelial cells of the colon gradually acquire characteristics typical of neoplasia<sup>66</sup>. Indeed, a significant and threefold increase in risk of colon cancer development has been reported among type 2 diabetic patients that are dependent on insulin<sup>67</sup>. Nevertheless, the metabolic and mitogenic mechanisms by which glucose or insulin signaling induce neoplastic growth and malignancies have not been clearly understood.

#### C. Microbiota

The gut microbiota is an essential part of the human body that is maintained through mutualistic association. It is highly diverse and varies between different individuals, yet when analyzed at the level of the phyla two main categories seem to be similar in everyone; Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes<sup>68</sup>. The gut microbiota plays several crucial physiological functions such as aiding in the digestion of indigestible dietary fibers, during which it produces short chain fatty acids mainly butyrate. Butyrate is the preferred energy source for colonic enterocytes, and it contributes to maintaining the cell homeostasis<sup>68</sup>. Some other functions it contributes to include the normal development of the gut and stimulating the host immune system. Techniques to study the microbiota have evolved over the years leading to whole genome sequencing. These advanced analysis methods would allow us to further understand the nature and characteristics of the families present and may aid in studying and preventing certain associated diseases. The gut microbiota population is usually strictly anaerobes including Bacteroides, Eubacterium, Bifidobacterium, Fusobacterium, Peptostreptococcus, and Atopobium<sup>69</sup>, and some facultative anaerobes such as Enterococci, Lactobacilli, Enterobacteriaceae, and Streptococci that are a minority<sup>69</sup>. Assessing the gut microbiota in a state of disease versus healthy candidates can be a crucial insight into the progression of the diseases.

#### 1. Microbiota in Diabetes

To recapitulate on what was previously mentioned, the gut microbiota are resident bacteria in our gut and are mainly comprised of four main phylla; *Actinobacteria, Bacteroidetes, Firmicutes, and Proteobacteria*<sup>70</sup>. An alteration in the gut microbiota, known as dysbiosis, is implicated in several diseases of which is type 2 diabetes Mellitus<sup>71</sup>. One resident bacteria that plays a role in disease pathogenesis is *Bacteroides fragilis (B.fragilis)* that is represented by less than 1% in the gut<sup>72</sup>. *B.fragilis* can be of two types nontoxigenic and enterotoxigenic (ETBF)

with the enterotoxigenic being a key causative of diarrhea illness. Furthermore, *B.fragilis* underrepresentation is involved in the development of type 2 Diabetes Mellitus<sup>73</sup>. Two strains of bacteria play a role in promoting anti-oxidative stress, whereby *Bifidobacterium* was found to hoarder hydroxyl radicals and superoxide anion<sup>46</sup> and *Lactobacillus* promotes the production of anti-oxidants. Knowing that oxidative stress is one of the underlying pathogenic mechanism of diabetes, we can understand how the gut microbiota can function to alleviate this stress and enhance anti-oxidant properties.

## 2. Microbiota in Colon Cancer

The gut microbiota plays crucial physiological roles aiding in digestion and maintaining the protective shield of the colon<sup>69</sup>. As mentioned earlier, B. Fragilis is one of the resident bacteria that is present in our gut and shown to be implicated in the progression of colon cancer by increasing epithelial cell permeability.<sup>72</sup> These gut microbiota help in the digestion of dietary fibers leading to the production of short chain fatty acids including butyrate<sup>74</sup>. In turn, butyrate is then oxidized by colonocytes under normal physiological conditions to perform its functions such as increasing cell differentiation and inducing apoptosis in colon cancer cells.<sup>75</sup>

Previous reports have shown that the production of SCFA's decreases in colon cancer <sup>76</sup>. This suggests the mechanism behind the progression of colon cancer.

## 3. Diabetes, Colon Cancer, and the Microbiota: A love-hate relationship:

During normobiosis, a state where the gut microbiota is in normal physiological conditions, the biological state of an individual is often healthy in accordance. This positive synergism is disrupted in the case of diabetes leading to a state of dysbiosis. Dysbiosis, or altered gut microbiota, is thought to be the driving force that leads to diabetes-associated colon cancer. One of the main players that seem to monitor this progression is sodium butyrate by applying epigenetic modifications via histone deacetylation. During dysbiosis, the microbial signature is altered which leads to decreased production of butyrate resulting from a decrease in butyrate

forming bacteria. This, in turn, increases the activity of histone deacetylase (HDAC) that promotes inflammation via ROS production or immune responses. Therefore, these changes, altogether, favor the progression of diabetes-associated colon cancer.

## 4. Probiotics

Probiotics or "For Life" from its Greek origin has long been of interest to scientists to understand the role they play in normal physiology and pathophysiology<sup>77</sup>. Probiotics are live strains of bacteria administered in adequate doses for health stimulating purposes. Among those *Bifidobacteria* and *Lactobacilli* are the most studied strains. Several studies look at the effect the gut microbiota has on certain diseases; thus, probiotics were used to 'correct' the disturbed microenvironment to treat diseases such as irritable bowel syndrome (IBS), Crohn's diseases, type 2 diabetes, and colon cancer<sup>77</sup>. Probiotics exhibit various health beneficial properties including antioxidant properties. Several strains of probiotics displayed antioxidant behavior such as *Bifidobacterium* where it was found to scavenge hydroxyl radicals and superoxide anion<sup>46</sup>. *Lactobacillus* also play a key role in protecting against oxidative stress by increasing the levels of antioxidants in the body and decreasing ROS<sup>46</sup>.

#### 5. Short Chain Fatty Acids: Butyrate

As mentioned earlier, butyrate is a short chain fatty acid produced by the colon microbiota such as *Faecalibacterium* and is the preferred source of energy for colonocytes. Emerging research linking dysbiosis to disease states has highlighted the pivotal role butyrate plays including maintaining the gut barrier functions, inflammatory, and immunomodulatory functions<sup>78</sup>. Other studies underlined the interaction between other innate bacterium and butyrate, as well as with butyrate-producing colon bacteria. For instance, Bifidobacterium, which have a 5% prevalence in our colon, are crucial in our heathy gut microbiota for their function in aiding in digestion, producing antioxidants, and protecting against pathogens<sup>78</sup>. It has been shown that there is a cross-feeding relationship between butyrate-producing bacteria and bifidobacteria that enhances

the co-existence of these two crucial bacterium in our healthy gut microbiota<sup>78</sup>. Butyrate practices epigenetic modifications as a histone deacetylase inhibitor whereby it increases histone acetylation<sup>75</sup>. Butyrate is shown to be oxidized by colonocytes under normal physiological conditions to perform its functions like increasing cell differentiation and inducing apoptosis in colon cancer cells<sup>75</sup>.

## D. Autophagy: Overview and its implications in health and disease

Autophagy is described as a process that helps maintain cellular physiology by digesting and recycling unwanted organelles<sup>79,80</sup>. During autophagy, cytoplasmic material is delivered to lysosomes for degradation in a process termed macroautophagy. The other two types of autophagy are termed microautophagy and chaperone-mediated autophagy which involve direct invagination of the lysosomal membrane<sup>81</sup>. Materials that are engulfed during autophagy lead to the formation autophagosomes which in turn fuses with lysosomes to form an autolysosome that digests and recycles the materials inside<sup>81</sup>. Autophagy plays a double-ended sword role whereby it has tumor-suppressor and tumor-promoter functionalities. In cases where it promotes less inflammation and clearance of damaged organelles, it also ensures the maintenance of the cancer stem cells<sup>81</sup>. It is noteworthy that the autophagic pathway can be activated by stress such as nutrient deprivation, hypoxia, or oxidative stress<sup>82</sup>. During the formation of autophagosomes, a crucial step in autophagy, Beclin 1 (BECN1), also referred to as ATG-6, is at the center of the signaling complex that is activated and recruited<sup>83</sup>. When autophagosomes are formed, a cytosolic form of microtubule associated protein 1A/1B light chain (LC3) is fused into the membrane<sup>84</sup>. Another autophagy factor implicated in the process is Autophagy related 12 (ATG-12) which facilitates the lipidation of the LC3 family mentioned earlier $^{85}$ .

#### 1. Autophagy in Diabetes

Autophagy can play a dual role when it comes to maintaining the viability of a cell. When autophagy is stimulated under stress, it functions in clearing damaged organelles and thus sustain cell survival. However, when activated under over-stress, autophagy may drive the cells to their own death<sup>80</sup>. Increasing evidence have reported the role of autophagy in protecting pancreatic beta cells against oxidative stress<sup>86</sup>. Recent studies showed that mice with Autophagy related protein 7 (ATG7) knockout displayed degeneration of beta-cells, impaired glucose tolerance with reduced insulin secretion that further contributed to the progression of diabetes<sup>87</sup>.

## 2. Autophagy in colon cancer

The role of autophagy in colon cancer remains to play a contradictory role. On one hand, autophagy is protecting benign cells from becoming malignant by clearing damaged organelles and reducing ROS<sup>81</sup>. On the other hand, it is aiding in tumor progression by allowing cancer cells to maintain their survival and gain access to nutrients<sup>81</sup>. Colon cancer cells are often under metabolic stress due to hypoxia and nutrient deprivation thus they demand more energy and resources which can be pertained through autophagy<sup>81</sup>.

## E. Oxidative Stress, Diabetes, and Colon Cancer

## 1. Reactive Oxygen Species and their Role in Homeostatic Maintenance

Reactive Oxygen species (ROS) are bioactive molecules that contain oxygen, and are produced as byproducts of ongoing biochemical cellular reactions. Several forms have been identified, and they include nitrogen based free radical species such as nitric oxide and peroxynitrite as well as superoxide free radicals ( $O_2^{-}$ ), hydrogen peroxide ( $H_2O_2$ ), and singlet oxygen. ROS have evolved to play an important role in house-keeping physiologic and cellular processes and therefore, are crucial entities for cellular physiology that are involved in gene expression, cell signal transduction, cell and tissue growth and proliferation, host defense and innate immunity and homeostatic maintenance. ROS and free radical formations also influence angiogenesis, salt and fluid homeostasis, biochemical reactions, apoptosis, etc.<sup>88</sup>

An imbalance between ROS generation and the ability of the antioxidant defense mechanism to neutralize the excess ROS and their intermediates, or repair the resulting damage, is considered deleterious and may lead to oxidative stress<sup>89</sup>. This is defined as the state whereby ROS overwhelms cellular defenses and leads to injury through lipid and protein oxidation, dysmetabolism, activation of intracellular signaling and transport pathways, and ultimately programmed cell death.

Hyperglycemia has been shown to disrupt the oxidant-antioxidant balance by triggering persistent ROS production<sup>90</sup>, and lowering the antioxidant defenses. As a result, antioxidant therapy approaches have been studied and shown to act at different levels, inhibiting the formation of ROS, scavenging free radicals or increasing the antioxidants defense enzyme capabilities.

## 2. Oxidative Stress in Diabetic Complications

Diabetes and hyperglycemia are accompanied by increased generation of reactive oxygen species (ROS)<sup>91</sup>. Diabetes in all its forms is characterized by impaired insulin-stimulated glucose uptake in adipose and muscle tissues leading to the consequential elevation in circulating blood glucose levels and the subsequent uptake by insulin-independent tissues. As a result, the disregulated intracellular flux of glucose leads to ROS overproduction. In fact, long-standing hyperglycemia is reported to be associated with increased systemic and cellular oxidative stress, which is currently accepted to be the common pathway for cellular injury, leading to the onset and progression of diabetic complications<sup>92</sup>.

## 3. Oxidative Injury and Carcinogenesis

ROS play a central role in intracellular signaling that may be a double-edged sword. ROS may play a role in cellular senescence or cellular survival depending on a variety of factors and signaling pathways affected, which are actually susceptible to endogenous or exogenous sources of ROS, conferring support to the environmental contribution to carcinogenesis<sup>93</sup>. Consequently, cells may either maintain molecular interactions and remain anti-tumorigenic entities, or transform into oncogenic cancer cells<sup>93</sup>. Such alterations exacerbated by ROS production by cancerous cells alter several pathways that mediate oncogenesis and malignant transformations. Indeed, oxidative damage has been reported to be underlying the mechanism of carcinogenesis in several cancers<sup>94</sup> via facilitating genomic instability and by being a DNA mutagen.

## 4. NADPH oxidases in Colon and Carcinogenesis

NADPH oxidases are one of the many sources of ROS in biologic systems, and there are seven isoforms: NOX 1, NOX 2, NOX3, NOX4, NOX 5, DUOX 1, and DUOX 2 <sup>95</sup>. The NADPH oxidases have certain conserved structural characteristics that are common in all isoforms and include a NADPH-binding site at the COOH terminus, a Flavin adenine dinucleotide (FAD)-binding region in proximity of the COOH-terminal transmembrane domain, six conserved transmembrane domains, and four highly conserved heme-binding histidines. Under normal non-pathologic conditions, NADPH oxidases produce ROS for a positive impact such as regulating blood pressure via reducing nitric oxide (NO)<sup>96</sup>. However, under stressful conditions stimuli, such as cytokines or hyperglycemia, NADPH oxidases are suggested to be the driving force behind activating signaling pathways that lead to cellular death due to the overproduction of ROS<sup>97</sup>. NOX1 and NOX 4 are the predominant form in colon tissue and will be discussed in more details below<sup>88</sup>. For the purpose of this thesis, we assessed the expression of NOX 4 merely in colon tissue of the different mice groups.

Cancer cells, like other non-malignant cells, produce ROS. In tumors, these reactive oxygen metabolites can act as signaling molecules to promote cell survival over apoptosis<sup>98</sup>. Moreover, in malignant and non-malignant tissue, the expression of the NOX family of genes is

described to be highly organ-specific. The Nox1 and Nox4 isoforms are majorly expressed in colon cells. Nox4 has been shown to be prominent in tumorigenicity. Indeed, Nox4 plays a role in carcinogenesis in several cancers. For instance, Nox4-mediated ROS is reported to prevent apoptosis and promote tumor cell growth in pancreatic cancer<sup>99</sup>, melanoma cancer cell proliferation and growth<sup>100</sup>, breast cancer cells<sup>101</sup>, glioblastoma cancer cells<sup>102</sup>, and colon cancer cells<sup>103</sup>. Nox4 in these studies is shown to contribute to tumor cell resistance, metastasis and oncotic transformation. Indeed, in colon cancer patients overexpressing Nox4, findings have correlated Nox4 overexpression with a poorer prognosis in colon cancer patients<sup>104</sup> in concordance with a higher likelihood of metastatic growth<sup>105</sup>, angiogenicity<sup>106</sup> and apoptotic death<sup>107</sup>. Interestingly, Nox4 overexpression has been also dubbed as a prognostic factor in metastatic colon cancer predictive of relapse in Stage II and III colon cancer and highly associated with metastatic profiles of tumors relative to primary stages<sup>103</sup>. In a study conducted by Bauer et al, results were indicative of the implication of Nox4-dependent cellular motility and thus, a Nox4 mediated contribution to aggressiveness of tumors in colon cancer by modulating cytoskeletal regulating proteins<sup>103</sup>.

However, despite these studies, our understanding of the role(s) of the NOX family of genes in the development and growth of human cancer and especially in colon cancer is limited, nevertheless the role of hyperglycemia in colon cancer tumorigenesis.

## F. TIGAR in Diabetes and Colon Cancer

P53 is a tumor suppressor transcription factor that serves in several cellular functions including apoptosis, senescence, and cell cycle. One of the targets of P53 is the protein TP53 induced glycolysis regulatory phosphatase (TIGAR) that acts as a fructose-2,6-bisphosphatase. Cancer cells typically switch from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis for generation of energy. This is a mechanism by which cancer cells evade cell death brought upon by stress and excessive

ROS production<sup>108</sup>. In this case, TIGAR lowers the glycolytic flux and promotes antioxidant properties. Consequently, TIGAR aids cancer cells 'unknowingly' by protecting them from oxidative stress and apoptosis<sup>108</sup>. We aim to assess the expression of TIGAR in cancer models to understand the pathways through which cancer cells sustain their growth.

## G. Aim

The aim of this study is to assess the effect of probiotics and sodium butyrate supplements on slowing the progression of diabetes-induced colon dysfunction as well as their effect on colon cancer growth and aggressiveness. Understanding the role of microbiota in these 2 diseases, will set the stage for further studies aimed at understanding the role of diabetes in increasing the risk of colon cancer development. This study focuses on understanding the role of microbiota in regulating NADPH-induced reactive oxygen species generation and autophagy. In a nutshell, in this study, we assess dysbiosis in diabetes and cancer, in order to study the missing link tying these two diseases.



Figure 2: Schematic Representation of the hypothesis

## CHAPTER II

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## A. In vivo

#### 1. Animal Models

Two different mice models were used for the purpose of these experiments. The first animal model used is the *MKR* mouse model which is genetically predisposed to develop T2DM. This is due to a mutation in its insulin receptor in the muscle. *MKR* mice are non-obese mice that develop mild hyperglycemia associated with insulin resistance<sup>109</sup>. Of interest these mice don't develop dyslipidemia as previously described<sup>109</sup>. The second type of mice were the *C57BL/6-Apc<sup>Im1Tyj</sup>/J* (*APC*) mice that have mutations in the Adenomatous Polyposis Coli gene. This results in induction of sporadic colon cancer<sup>110</sup>. *FVB-NJ* and *C57BL/6J* mice served as the controls for *MKR* and *APC* mice respectively as they share the same genetic background. For the first set of experiments the groups were divided as follows: Control mice *FVB-NJ* (*n=3*), MKR mice (n=3), *MKR* mice treated with Probiotics (n=3), *MKR* mice treated with butyrate (n=3). The second set of experiments included control mice *C57* (n=3), *APC* mice (n=3), *APC* mice treated with Probiotics (n=3).

## 2. Drugs Administered

Upon reaching the age of 8 weeks and weighing around 30g, the mice underwent treatment. The probiotics used in this study is the Probiolife by Green Made which contains 25 Billion colony

forming units. The drug was administered by oral gavage daily to the mice with a dosage of 5mg/kg. The Probiolife contains several strains of bacteria belonging to the phylla Lactobacillus, Saccharomyces, and Bifidobacterium. Sodium butyrate supplement was prepared and administered by intra peritoneal (IP) injections initially with several titrated dosages to determine the LD<sub>50</sub> which was set at 50 mg/kg. Hence, we opted to use this supplement with a dosage of 20 mg/kg. The control mice received injections of the vehicle (phosphate buffer saline "PBS"). Body weight and blood glucose were assessed every two weeks using a glucometer (Accu-Chek Performa, Roche, USA). Furthermore, fecal samples were collected every two weeks by placing each mouse in an autoclaved cage in order to collect them stress-free and in a short time to avoid any bacterial contamination.

## 3. Sacrifice and Organ Harvesting:

After 8 weeks of daily treatment, the mice were sacrificed and their organs were harvested. The colons were then cleaned with cold PBS and its length was measured. From the distal side of the colon in the APC mice groups the colon was opened up and polyps were counted if visible. A piece of the colon was stored in 4% formaldehyde and stained with Periodic Acid Schiff (PAS). The harvested organs were flash frozen in liquid nitrogen for proteins and RNA extraction for further molecular studies.

## 4. HbA1c Measurement

HbA1c done by HPLC using the variant II Hemoglobin Testing System (BIORAD) on blood samples collected from the mice models at sacrifice.

## 5. Colon Length and Polyps Counting

Colon length was measured using a ruler starting from the distal colon till the end (until it reaches the cecum). Polyps were observed by cutting open the colon gently, exposing the polyps, and counting with the naked eye.

21

## **B.** In vitro

## 1. Cell Line

The cell line used in our study is the HT-29 which is a human colorectal adenocarcinoma cell line with epithelial morphology<sup>111</sup>. They grow in an un-polarized and undifferentiated multilayer unless their culturing conditions are altered or when treated. HT-29 cells were cultured in Dulbeccos's modified eagle medium DMEM (Sigma Aldrich, Steinheim, Germany) (5mM glucose) supplemented with 10% Fetal bovine serum and 1% Penicillin streptomycin. To mimick a diabetic environment when needed, we resorted to using high glucose DMEM media with 25 mM glucose after serum starvation for 12 hours. Cells were incubated at 37 °C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> humidified air and 95% air.

## 2. Viability Assay: Trypan Blue Exclusion Assay

Trypan blue exclusion assay assessed the viability of HT-29 cells after treatment with butyrate (0.75 mM) for 24 hours. After seeding the cells in 6 well plates (triplicates) and serum starving them, we divided them into four conditions: Normal Glucose (NG), High Glucose (HG), Normal Glucose treated with butyrate, and High Glucose treated with butyrate. We then collected the supernatant. After trypsinization, cells were centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5min. We took 50 uL of cells from the conical and 50 uL trypan blue Then 20uL from the mixture were used to count the cells using the hemocytometer. Viable cells were detected as translucent whereas dead cells were dark blue.

#### C. Molecular Work

#### 1. Western Blot

Colon tissues that were pertained from the sacrifice were used to undertake western blots to evaluate the protein expression of our protein of interest. A small piece was cut, placed in Radio immunoprecipitation assay(RIPA) buffer containing 0.1% sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS), 0.5%

sodium deoxylate, 150 mM sodium chloride, 100 mM EDTA, 50 mM Tris-hydrochloride, 1% Tergitol (NP40), 1% of the protease and phosphatase inhibitors and 1mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, and homogenized mechanically at first then in a tissue lyser. It was then left rotating overnight at 4 degrees. The following day, the eppendorf's were centrifuged at 4 degrees at 13.5 rpm for 30 minutes and the supernatant was collected. We performed the Lowry assay to quantify our protein and loaded 30ug/well. For immunoblotting, proteins were separated by 8% or 15% SDS polyacrylamide gel and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (BioRad laboratory, USA). The membranes were blocked with 5% BSA and then incubated with the primary antibodies (Table 1). They were detected using a secondary antibody. Bands were visualized using the X-Omat developer. Quantification of the bands was performed on image J software and results were then assessed on GraphPad Prism. Primary antibodies that were used to detect our protein of interest are listed below.

Dilution	Company
1:500	Santa Cruz
1:1000	Cell-Signalling
1:1000	Cell-Signalling
1:1000	Cell-Signalling
1:1000	abcam
	Dilution 1:500 1:1000 1:1000 1:1000 1:1000

## 2. Real-time PCR

RNeasy Micro Kit (Qiagen) was used to extract mRNA from colon tissues then transformed into cDNA via reverse transcriptase PCR. Samples then underwent real-time PCR using the Real time PCR biorad CFX384 machine. The following human and mice primers were assessed using SYBR green.

Table 2: Real time PCR Primers sequences

	Sequences
Buk-5F1	CCATGCATTAAATCAAAAAGC
Buk-5F2	CCATGCGTTAAACCAAAAAGC
Buk-6R1	AGTACCTCCACCCATGTG
Buk-6R2	AATACCTCCGCCCATATG
Buk-6R3	AATACCGCCRCCCATATG
Total Buk-F	GCAGGCCTAACACATGCAAGTC
Total Buk-R	CTGCTGCCTCCCGTAGGAGT

## 3. PAS staining

Sections of 4-µm thickness from paraffin-embedded tissues were stained with periodic acid-Schiff. (MetaMorph version 6.1; Universal Imaging). They were then observed under the microscope to detect crypts, nuclei, and polyposis.

## 4. Detection of SuperOxide via HPLC

The HPLC-based assay allows separation of superoxide-specific EOH from the nonspecific ethidium. Briefly, quantification of DHE, EOH, and ethidium concentrations was performed by comparison of integrated peak areas between the obtained and standard curves of each product under chromatographic conditions identical to those described above. EOH and ethidium were monitored by fluorescence detection with excitation at 510 nm and emission at 595 nm, whereas DHE was monitored by ultraviolet absorption at 370 nm. The results are expressed as the amount of EOH produced (nmol) normalized for the amount of DHE consumed (i.e., initial minus remaining DHE in the sample; µmol).

## CHAPTER III

## RESULTS

## A. In Vivo

Several studies have revealed a variety of observational links between diabetes and cancer. Recent evidence suggests that the microbiome may affect the probability of both diseases. Several internal and external factors that are altered in diabetes, especially the increase in blood glucose levels, may affect this population and alter their composition, which in turn can constitute a major contributor to the onset and development of disease state. Furthermore, during dysbiosis, several bacteria related to inflammation may be altered, as well as the proliferation of butyrate-forming bacteria may be dysregulated. This provides a possible explanation for a correlation between these two diseases.

In this study, we assess dysbiosis in diabetes and cancer, in order to study the missing link tying these two diseases.

In our in vivo experiments, we first assessed the difference in gut microbiota of the diabetic and control mice. Then, we investigated the role of both probiotics and butyrate in slowing the progression of diabetic complications. In parallel experiments, the role of the identified microbial alteration observed in diabetes were studied in the APC mice to assess if they regulate colorectal cancer tumorigenesis.

## 1. Body weight and blood Glucose:

Body weight and random blood glucose were measured and recorded every two weeks. Our results show that body weight of the MKR mice was comparable to that of their control littermates. Same observations were made concerning the APC cancerous mice. Furthermore, our

results show that MKR mice have a significantly higher random blood glucose values when compared to the control mice, while the APC mice didn't show any changes in their glucose levels when compared to their control littermates. Moreover, HbA1c levels reflected blood glucose changes seen in the different groups of mice. These results were consistent throughout the whole study and sustained till the sacrifice date. Table 3 and table 4 highlight the body weight and random blood glucose levels at sacrifice. It is of utmost importance to highlight that treatment with neither butyrate nor probiotics altered HbA1c levels.

Conditions	FVB-NJ	MKR	MKR + Probiotic	MKR + Butyrate
Body Weight (g)	30.6± 0.72	23.7±1.38	29.4± 0.46	25.3±1.32
Glucose (mg/dL)	150±20.1	247± 18.6*	191± 6.6 <sup>#</sup>	149±7.9 <sup>#</sup>
HbA1c (%)	5.5± 0.1	8.4± 0.08*	7.6± 0.2*	7.6± 0.08*

 Table 3: Body Weight, Blood Glucose, and HbA1c of MKR mice Models

Table 3: Bodyweight, blood glucose, and HbA1c of MKR mice model(n=3).Data are expressed as mean± standard error of mean (SEM). \* at p<0.05 vs FVB-NJ; # p<0.05 vs MKR

## Table 4: Body Weight, Blood Glucose, and HbA1c of APC mice models

Conditions	C57	APC	APC + Probiotic	APC + Butyrate
Body Weight (g)	28.5± 0.41	26.5± 1.2	18.4± 1.25	23.3± 0.188
Glucose (mg/dL)	165.5±11.3	160.6± 6.8	139± 5.2	133.75± 6.7
HbA1c(%)	5.3± 0.15	5.1± 0.08	4.7± 0.15	4.8± 0.14

Table 4: Bodyweight, Blood Glucose, and HbA1c of APC mice models (n=3).Data are expressed as mean± standard error of mean (SEM).

#### 2. Microbiota of MKR diabetic mice contains less Bacteroid fragilis and butyrate-forming

## bacteria.

Butyrate-producing bacteria have recently gained attention, since they are important for a healthy colon, and when altered may contribute to emerging diseases such as CRC and type II diabetes. In that same spirit, and in the first set of experiments, we aimed to assess the difference in gut microbiota of the MKR mice compared to their control littermates. For that, real time -PCR (RT-PCR), using specific primers for different bacterial communities and primers for the total butyrate kinase genes (Table 2) was performed. Our results show that the most significant difference between microbiota of MKR mice and that of the controls lies in a strong reduction of and the butyrate-forming bacteria (as reflected through reduced B. fragilis (Figure 3), abundance of the total butyrate kinase gene (Figure 4). While both *MKR* mice and their control similar of Akkermansia littermates had abundance *muciniphila*, Bacteroidaceae, Enterobacteriaceae, Faecalibacterium prausnitzii, Lachnospiraceae and Ruminococcaceae.



Taken into account these results, we next assessed if the alteration in the butyrate-forming bacteria perceived in diabetes is replicated in colorectal cancer mice.

# 3. Fecal butyrate contents are significantly lower in diabetic MKR mice and APC mice when compared to control non-diabetic and control cancer free mice.

Since T2DM is correlated with less abundance of butyrate-forming bacterial population, we measured the fecal butyrate contents of *MKR*, *C57BL/6-Apc<sup>tm1Tyj</sup>/J (APC)*, FVB-NJ control and C57BL/6J control mice. Our results show that butyrate kinase gene measured in the fecal samples of the different group of mice was decreased in the MKR and APC-/- mice when compared to their control littermates respectively (**Figure 4A and 4B**).



Taken together, our results highlight the alteration in the butyrate kinase gene in diabetes and in cancer mice. Therefore, in the next series of experiments we study the role of butyrate in diabetes-induced colon remodeling, as well as its role in colorectal cancer malignancy.

## 4. Gut Anatomy is altered in the diabetic animals.

Non-obese type 2 diabetic MKR mice and colorectal cancer mice model (APC) were treated with either probiotics (5mg/kg) or butyrate (20mg/kg). After 8 weeks of treatment, mice were sacrificed and colon tissues were isolated. Anatomical and histological analysis were performed. Our data show that diabetes induces intestinal remodeling, seen as a reduction in the colon length of MKR mice when compared to their control littermates (**Figure 5**). These anatomical changes were restored upon treatment with either butyrate or probiotics (**Figure 5b**). As for the APC mice, our results show that butyrate and probiotics reverse the aggressiveness of CRC, as assessed by the reduction in number of polyps observed in the APC treated mice when compared to the APC mice (**Figure 6b**). Furthermore, our results indicate that butyrate and probiotics reverse the histological changes observed in the APC mice as assessed by PAS staining. Results from the histological sections reveal an increase in the number of crypts per surface area, a decrease in goblet cells as well as a stratification of the nuclei. We can also observe the start of a microadenoma migrating towards the surface from the basement membrane. It is defined by an irregular prominent nuclei and the formation of microadenomatous polyps (**Figure 7**)





Figure 6: Polyps number in APC mice models(n=3). Data are expressed as mean± standard error of mean (SEM). \* <0.05 vs APC.

Figure 7: Histological observations: PAS staining on colon tissue of APC mice models

A





B





С



D



**APC+** Probiotics

APC + Butyrate

Figure 7: PAS staining Colon Histopathology: Colon sections were taken from the four different groups: C57, APC, APC+Probiotics, and APC+Butyrate cut into thin slices and stained with PAS. A stratification of nuclei, a decrease in goblet cells and an increase in number of crypts per surface area are histological changes observed in cancer. These changes are reversed upon treatment. (A) C57 (B) APC (C) APC treated with probiotics (D) APC treated with butyrate

## **B.** Cell Culture:

We next wanted to validate our in vivo results using an in vitro model, especially regarding the phenotypic changes observed in cancer. For that, HT-29 colorectal cancer cells were grown in high glucose (HG) media in the presence or absence of butyrate.

## High glucose increases the proliferation of colon cancer cells in culture

The trypan blue assay results indicate that cultured HT-29 cells in the diabetic mimicking milieu display an increase in cellular viability from 40% to around 70% that was reversed upon butyrate treatment (**Figure 8**).



*Next we assessed the mechanisms by which anatomical and histological alterations were induced.* 

# C. Autophagy alteration in diabetes and cancer was homeostatically restored upon butyrate and probiotic treatment.

Autophagy is a molecular mechanism for maintaining cellular physiology and promoting survival. Defects in autophagy lead to the etiology of many diseases, including diabetes mellitus and cancer. In the next series of experiments we assessed the protein expression of central autophagy proteins.

## 1. LC-3β

LC-3 $\beta$  is a protein well-involved in autophagy and a prominent marker of autophagosome formation. In the MKR mice model, a non-statically significant elevation in the protein expression of LC-3 $\beta$  was observed. Upon treatment with probiotics or butyrate LC-3 $\beta$  protein expression showed a tendency to decrease (**Figure 9**). In the APC mice model, the increase in LC-3 $\beta$  protein expression was significantly and remarkably higher with respect to the control mice. Butyrate or probiotic treatment show a tendency to reverse cancer-induced LC-3 $\beta$  overexpression (**Figure 10**).





## 2. ATG-12

ATG-5, ATG-8, and ATG-12 belong to the same family of autophagy markers. In our results, ATG-12 was not affected by the diabetic milieu of the MKR mice (**Figure 11**). In contrast, it was significantly decreased in the APC mice with respect to its control littermates. This decrease was significantly reversed upon treatment with probiotics and butyrate (**Figure 12**).





## 3. Beclin-1

Beclin-1, an autophagy marker that is implicated in inhibiting tumor growth in cancer cells, was decreased significantly in APC mice with colon cancer. Mice treated with probiotics or butyrate showed a homeostatic repair of Beclin-1levels. (Figure 14). This change was not observed in the MKR mice models (Figure 13).





## D. ROS production and NADPH Oxidase Activity

NADPH oxidases (NOXs) catalyze the transfer of electrons from NADPH to molecular oxygen to produce superoxide and/or hydrogen peroxide, two major reactive oxygen species (ROS). NOX-induced ROS production is now recognized to play a fundamental role in human health and disease especially in diabetes and cancer. Among the 7 different Nox isoforms, Nox4 has been shown to be majorly involved in both diabetes and cancer<sup>112</sup>.

## 1. ROS Production

To assess ROS production, we measured DHE alteration on colon tissue extracts. The results show a significant increase in ROS production in *MKR* and *APC* mice models compared to their control littermates. Butyrate or probiotics treatment decreased ROS production significantly compared with untreated *MKR or APC* mice models (**Figure15**).



## 1. NOX4 expression in MKR and APC mice

The level of expression of NOX4, a member of the NADPH oxidases family, was assessed in MKR and APC mice models. In both MKR mice and APC mice the protein expression levels of NOX4 were significantly increased. This increase was restored upon the administration of probiotics or butyrate (**Figure16-17**).



# E. TIGAR Expression is altered in APC mice groups with no visible change in MKR mice groups:

The level of expression of TIGAR, a P53 target protein<sup>113</sup>, is significantly increased in colorectal cancer as seen in APC mice models and restored to normal upon treatment with butyrate or probiotics (Figure **18**). No significant change was observed in MKR mice models (**Figure19**).





## CHAPTER IV

## DISCUSSION

The MKR mouse model, expresses a dominant-negative IGF1R in skeletal muscle under the muscle creatine kinase promoter. The resultant is a mouse that is insulin resistant, glucose intolerant but not obese<sup>109</sup>. Furthermore, the MKR mice display mild dyslipidemia, but normal levels of circulating inflammatory cytokines making them a good model to study the effects of T2DM on colon tumorigenesis independent of obesity. This allows us to attribute our observed results to hyperglycemia and insulin resistance merely. Measuring the HbA1c levels reflected that treatment with neither butyrate nor probiotics altered HbA1c. This suggests that the reversal of the high glucose/hyperglycemia-induced anatomical, histological and biochemical alterations are solely due to a distinct effect of the treatment rather than normalization of HbA1c levels.

We sought to identify the phylla of bacteria resident in the gut of control and diabetic mice. The results showed that *B.fragilis* had a significant decrease in the gut of the diabetic mice. This is concomitant with previous findings that suggest the association of decreased *B.fragilis* with the progression in T2DM<sup>73</sup>. Furthermore, PCR analysis of DNA from fecal samples showed a significant increase in butyrate-forming bacteria in both diabetic and colon cancer mice models after probiotics administration. This was interpreted by assessing the percentage of butyrate kinase gene abundance. In both *MKR* and *APC* mice models treated with probiotics we saw a significant elevation of butyrate kinase gene.

Phenotypic changes marked by colon length and polyps formation were assessed in *MKR* and *APC* mice. In *MKR* mice models, measurements of the length of the colon revealed a shortening in the colon of diabetic mice which was restored upon treatment. Although the literature shows that colon length is often increased in diabetic mice for higher absorption of

glucose<sup>114</sup>, however, we postulate that the shortening of colon length was due to inflammation. In fact, recent studies show that during colon cancer and when the colon is inflamed, the colon length is shortened<sup>115</sup>. It is probable that the elongation of the colon initially in diabetes is present for increased absorption, but later as it becomes inflamed it shortens. In *APC* mice models, having adenomatous polyposis coli mutation, our results indicate an increased number of polyps. This number was decreased in mice treated with either probiotics or butyrate. Alteration in the microbial diversity offers a safe ground for adenomatous polyps to develop into colon cancer<sup>116</sup> and this effect is somewhat reversed upon the administration of probiotics. Increasing evidence highlight the role of probiotics modulate the levels of the so called 'good' and 'bad' bacteria<sup>117</sup>. Histological observations of the colon tissue of treated and untreated *APC* mice were performed using PAS staining. Our results revealed tissues with colon cancer to have an increase in the number of crypts per surface area, a decrease in goblet cells, and a stratification of nuclei<sup>118</sup> that is reversed upon treatment.

To confirm our results, we performed a trypan blue exclusion assay to assess the viability of colon cancer cell line HT-29 in normal or high glucose conditions in the presence or absence of butyrate. Our results displayed an increase in the viability of colon cancer cells in high glucose simulating diabetic conditions. This was reversed upon treatment with butyrate. Although butyrate is considered the energy supply of colon cells it did not promote their growth out of control.

When analyzing the levels of autophagic marker LC3 $\beta$ , our results showed a tendency of an increase in mice with colon cancer which was reversed upon treatment with probiotics or butyrate. Previous studies suggest that increased autophagy enhances the aggressiveness of human colon cancer by evading apoptosis and utilizing autophagy as a mean for cell survival<sup>119,120</sup>. Furthermore, several reports demonstrate the effect of butyrate on the AMPK

42

pathway by studying macrophages. Their results show that butyrate has increased AMP which is an inducer of AMPK that in turn inhibits mTOR; a well-known regulator of autophagy.<sup>121</sup> AMPK and mTOR involvement will be assessed in future experiments. Other studies display the role of probiotics on regulating the initiation and development of autophagy by suppressing its maturation via decreasing P62; an ubiquitin-binder of LC- $3\beta^{122}$ . Probiotics were shown to decrease autophagic vacuoles after LPS treatment<sup>122</sup> This stimulated us to hypothesize that since LC- $3\beta$  is required for the formation of autophagosomes and since probiotics decrease autophagic vacuoles, then LC- $3\beta$  is decreased upon the administration of probiotics. One more noteworthy point found in literature was that LC3 $\beta$  overexpression may be a compensatory mechanism due to a decrease in expression of other autophagic molecules<sup>123</sup>.

Another key autophagic maker is autophagy related protein 12 (ATG-12) that was downregulated in APC mice and restored close to control after probiotics or butyrate administration. ATG-12 belongs to a family of autophagy related proteins and is covalently attached to ATG-5. Studies show that ATG-5 is speculated to act as a tumor suppressor and is highly downregulated in colon cancer due to deletions in 6q21 loci<sup>124</sup>. Furthermore, ATG-5 and ATG-12 are required to form a complex in early stages of autophagosome formation, yet this process is downregulated altogether<sup>124</sup>. In parallel, another study attributes this decrease in ATG-12 to frameshift mutations leading to disruption of amino acids synthesis of the target protein hence losing its function<sup>123</sup>. Probiotics were shown to increase the expression of ATG-12 by interfering with the ATG-5/ATG12 complex<sup>122</sup>.

Beclin-1, also known as ATG-6, belongs to the autophagy related proteins family responsible for autophagosome formation. In our data, Beclin-1 observed a similar pattern as ATG-12 expression. This is concomitant with the literature whereby beclin-1 and ATG-12 work together in promoting autophagy<sup>124</sup>. Beclin-1 expression is significantly downregulated in colon cancer. This is speculated to be the result of allelic loss or microRNA regulatory activity<sup>125</sup>.

Upon treatment with probiotics, studies show that Beclin-1 was upregulated along with ATG5-ATG12-ATG16 leading to induction of autophagy<sup>126</sup>. This could suggest that probiotics induce autophagy in colon cancer cells as a defense mechanism to protect them from cell death. Similarly, treatment with butyrate showed an increase in beclin-1 expression with respect to control and this was shown to be due to butyrate stimulating the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) thus leading to the activation of autophagy<sup>127</sup>.

ROS production was measured using HPLC to assess the level of oxidative stress in diabetes and colon cancer states. Our results indicate that superoxide levels increase in diabetic mice and mice with colon cancer. This was reversed upon treatment with either butyrate or probiotics. NADPH oxidases are one of the many sources of ROS in biologic systems. Within the family of NADPH oxidases, NOX4, being found in the colon epithelium, was assessed. In both diabetic and mice with colon cancer, the pattern of NOX4 protein expression observed was similar with an increase in diabetic and APC mice and a decrease upon administration of the treatment. In MKR mice, NOX4 is a known accomplice of diabetes and a contributor to oxidative stress<sup>112</sup>. Thus observing an increase in NOX4 in diabetic mice came as no surprise as elevated levels of glucose induce increased production of ROS through augmented NADPH oxidases activity<sup>97</sup>. Butvrate, a histone deacetylase was shown to reduce the basal level of NOX4 expression and  $H_2O_2$  in endothelial cells<sup>128</sup>. Similarly, probiotic supplements were shown to counteract the increased ROS production via anti-oxidative mechanisms like increased Bifidobacterium<sup>129</sup>. In colon cancer, NOX4 increased expression is linked to promoting tumor progression via cell-cycle, apoptosis, and migration<sup>104</sup>.

Cancer cells find several means to elongate their lives and escape cell death, one of which is shifting their metabolism from oxidative phosphorylation to glycolysis in order to avoid oxidative damage<sup>108</sup>. P53 is a tumor suppressor gene that was reported to help in controlling metabolism, making it rather an oncogene at certain times. TIGAR is a target of P53 protein that

protects from oxidative stress and lowers the glycolytic flux. As a result, by protecting the cells from oxidative stress, TIGAR unintentionally aids cancer cells in escaping apoptosis<sup>108</sup>. In our APC mice models, we saw an increase in TIGAR expression indicating that it was shielding colon cancer cells from apoptosis<sup>113</sup>. This expression was decreased upon the administration of butyrate or probiotics.

## **CONCLUSION**

In conclusion, diabetes and colon cancer- induced dysbiosis is leading to the decrease in butyrate forming bacteria. This, in turn, is increasing NADPH oxidases specifically NOX4 protein expression that is responsible for the production of ROS. The oxidative stress is the resulting in autophagic alterations that are further ameliorating colon injury. Upon the administration of probiotics or butyrate, we are restoring normo-biosis and adjusting the action of NOX4. Therefore, ROS production becomes under control and autophagy is regulated. Altogether, this improved colon injury and slows down the progression of cancer.

## LIMITATIONS

In this work, the first limitation is related to the small number of animals used (n=3). This was a pilot study to assess the role of microbiota in diabetes and cancer. Also, this pilot study was aimed to identify the dose of butyrate needed for treatment. In the ongoing and future studies, we aim at increasing the number of animals to pertain more statistically significant and accurate results. Our in vitro work was merely used as a confirmation for our in vivo work, yet we seek to expand it more. We will use a battery of cell lines including ones that represent different stages of colon cancer such as SW480, SW620, Caco-2, LoVo, and HCT-116. We will also attempt to use several drugs to repurpose them for colorectal injuries. It is important to pursue this road down further and to seek plausible treatments for these debilitating diseases. I am grateful to be able to contribute even in this minute amount one step further towards aiding those in need. As someone once said ''we didn't come this far to only come this far''.

# REFERENCES

- 1 Guariguata, L. *et al.* Global estimates of diabetes prevalence for 2013 and projections for 2035. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* **103**, 137-149, doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2013.11.002 (2014).
- 2 Majeed, A. *et al.* Diabetes in the Middle-East and North Africa: an update. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* **103**, 218-222, doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2013.11.008 (2014).
- 3 Costanian, C., Bennett, K., Hwalla, N., Assaad, S. & Sibai, A. M. Prevalence, correlates and management of type 2 diabetes mellitus in Lebanon: findings from a national population-based study. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract* **105**, 408-415, doi:10.1016/j.diabres.2014.06.005 (2014).
- 4 Associoation, A. D. 2010).
- 5 Atkinson, M. A. & Maclaren, N. K. The pathogenesis of insulin-dependent diabetes mellitus. *N Engl J Med* **331**, 1428-1436, doi:10.1056/NEJM199411243312107 (1994).
- 6 Harcourt, B. E., Penfold, S. A. & Forbes, J. M. Coming full circle in diabetes mellitus: from complications to initiation. *Nat Rev Endocrinol* **9**, 113-123, doi:10.1038/nrendo.2012.236 (2013).
- 7 Richesson, R. L. *et al.* A comparison of phenotype definitions for diabetes mellitus. *J Am Med Inform Assoc* **20**, e319-326, doi:10.1136/amiajnl-2013-001952 (2013).
- 8 Alberti, K. G. & Zimmet, P. Z. New diagnostic criteria and classification of diabetes-again? *Diabet Med* **15**, 535-536, doi:10.1002/(SICI)1096-9136(199807)15:7<535::AID-DIA670>3.0.CO;2-Q (1998).
- 9 Mayfield, J. Diagnosis and classification of diabetes mellitus: new criteria. *Am Fam Physician* **58**, 1355-1362, 1369-1370 (1998).
- 10 Yamamoto-Honda, R. *et al.* Body mass index and the risk of cancer incidence in patients with type 2 diabetes in Japan: Results from the National Center Diabetes Database. *J Diabetes Investig* **7**, 908-914, doi:10.1111/jdi.12522 (2016).
- 11 Kahn, B. B. & Flier, J. S. Obesity and insulin resistance. *J Clin Invest* **106**, 473-481, doi:10.1172/JCI10842 (2000).
- 12 Kissebah, A. H. *et al.* Relation of body fat distribution to metabolic complications of obesity. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **54**, 254-260, doi:10.1210/jcem-54-2-254 (1982).
- 13 Coustan, D. R. Gestational diabetes. *Diabetes Care* **16 Suppl 3**, 8-15 (1993).
- 14 Engelgau, M. M., Herman, W. H., Smith, P. J., German, R. R. & Aubert, R. E. The epidemiology of diabetes and pregnancy in the U.S., 1988. *Diabetes Care* **18**, 1029-1033 (1995).
- 15 Assal, J. P. Revisiting the approach to treatment of long-term illness: from the acute to the chronic state. A need for educational and managerial skills for long-term follow-up. *Patient Educ Couns* **37**, 99-111 (1999).
- 16 CDC. Prevalence of Both Diagnosed and Undiagnosed Diabetes, <<u>https://www.cdc.gov/diabetes/data/statistics-report/diagnosed-undiagnosed.html</u>> (2017).
- 17 DeFronzo, R. A. *et al.* Type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Nat Rev Dis Primers* **1**, 15019, doi:10.1038/nrdp.2015.19 (2015).
- 18 Huxley, R., Ansary-Moghaddam, A., Berrington de Gonzalez, A., Barzi, F. & Woodward, M. Type-II diabetes and pancreatic cancer: a meta-analysis of 36 studies. Br J Cancer 92, 2076-2083, doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6602619 (2005).
- 19 Yang, Y. X., Hennessy, S. & Lewis, J. D. Insulin therapy and colorectal cancer risk among type 2 diabetes mellitus patients. *Gastroenterology* **127**, 1044-1050 (2004).

- 20 Harding, J. L., Shaw, J. E., Peeters, A., Cartensen, B. & Magliano, D. J. Cancer risk among people with type 1 and type 2 diabetes: disentangling true associations, detection bias, and reverse causation. *Diabetes Care* **38**, 264-270, doi:10.2337/dc14-1996 (2015).
- 21 organization, w. h. 2017).
- 22 Society, A. C. 2017).
- 23 Lopez, A. D., Mathers, C. D., Ezzati, M., Jamison, D. T. & Murray, C. J. Global and regional burden of disease and risk factors, 2001: systematic analysis of population health data. *Lancet* **367**, 1747-1757, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(06)68770-9 (2006).
- 24 Onitilo, A. A. *et al.* Type 2 diabetes mellitus, glycemic control, and cancer risk. *Eur J Cancer Prev* 23, 134-140, doi:10.1097/CEJ.0b013e3283656394 (2014).
- 25 Zendehdel, K. *et al.* Cancer incidence in patients with type 1 diabetes mellitus: a population-based cohort study in Sweden. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **95**, 1797-1800 (2003).
- 26 Gordon-Dseagu, V. L., Shelton, N. & Mindell, J. S. Epidemiological evidence of a relationship between type-1 diabetes mellitus and cancer: a review of the existing literature. *Int J Cancer* **132**, 501-508, doi:10.1002/ijc.27703 (2013).
- 27 Carstensen, B. *et al.* Cancer incidence in persons with type 1 diabetes: a five-country study of 9,000 cancers in type 1 diabetic individuals. *Diabetologia* **59**, 980-988, doi:10.1007/s00125-016-3884-9 (2016).
- 28 Wernstedt Asterholm, I. *et al.* Pathological Type-2 Immune Response, Enhanced Tumor Growth, and Glucose Intolerance in Retnlbeta (RELMbeta) Null Mice: A Model of Intestinal Immune System Dysfunction in Disease Susceptibility. *Am J Pathol* **186**, 2404-2416, doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2016.04.017 (2016).
- 29 Giovannucci, E. *et al.* Diabetes and cancer: a consensus report. *CA Cancer J Clin* **60**, 207-221, doi:10.3322/caac.20078 (2010).
- 30 Noto, H., Goto, A., Tsujimoto, T., Osame, K. & Noda, M. Latest insights into the risk of cancer in diabetes. *J Diabetes Investig* **4**, 225-232, doi:10.1111/jdi.12068 (2013).
- 31 Ryu, T. Y., Park, J. & Scherer, P. E. Hyperglycemia as a risk factor for cancer progression. *Diabetes Metab J* **38**, 330-336, doi:10.4093/dmj.2014.38.5.330 (2014).
- 32 Wojciechowska, J., Krajewski, W., Bolanowski, M., Krecicki, T. & Zatonski, T. Diabetes and Cancer: a Review of Current Knowledge. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* **124**, 263-275, doi:10.1055/s-0042-100910 (2016).
- 33 Zhang, H., Pelzer, A. M., Kiang, D. T. & Yee, D. Down-regulation of type I insulin-like growth factor receptor increases sensitivity of breast cancer cells to insulin. *Cancer Res* 67, 391-397, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-06-1712 (2007).
- 34 Pollak, M. Insulin, insulin-like growth factors and neoplasia. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab* 22, 625-638, doi:10.1016/j.beem.2008.08.004 (2008).
- 35 Weinstein, D., Simon, M., Yehezkel, E., Laron, Z. & Werner, H. Insulin analogues display IGF-I-like mitogenic and anti-apoptotic activities in cultured cancer cells. *Diabetes Metab Res Rev* **25**, 41-49, doi:10.1002/dmrr.912 (2009).
- 36 Warburg, O. On the origin of cancer cells. *Science* **123**, 309-314 (1956).
- 37 Vander Heiden, M. G., Cantley, L. C. & Thompson, C. B. Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. *Science* **324**, 1029-1033, doi:10.1126/science.1160809 (2009).
- 38 Hanahan, D. & Weinberg, R. A. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. *Cell* **144**, 646-674, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2011.02.013 (2011).
- 39 van Kruijsdijk, R. C., van der Wall, E. & Visseren, F. L. Obesity and cancer: the role of dysfunctional adipose tissue. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev* 18, 2569-2578, doi:10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-09-0372 (2009).

- 40 Park, S. H. *et al.* Metformin enhances TRAIL-induced apoptosis by Mcl-1 degradation via Mule in colorectal cancer cells. *Oncotarget* **7**, 59503-59518, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.11147 (2016).
- 41 Szydlo, B., Kiczmer, P., Swietochowska, E. & Ostrowska, Z. Role of omentin and chemerin in metabolic syndrome and tumor diseases. *Postepy Hig Med Dosw (Online)* **70**, 844-849 (2016).
- 42 Yu, H., Pardoll, D. & Jove, R. STATs in cancer inflammation and immunity: a leading role for STAT3. *Nat Rev Cancer* **9**, 798-809, doi:10.1038/nrc2734 (2009).
- 43 Stattin, P. *et al.* Prospective study of hyperglycemia and cancer risk. *Diabetes Care* **30**, 561-567, doi:10.2337/dc06-0922 (2007).
- 44 Zhou, X. H. *et al.* Diabetes, prediabetes and cancer mortality. *Diabetologia* **53**, 1867-1876, doi:10.1007/s00125-010-1796-7 (2010).
- 45 Tanaka, T. Colorectal carcinogenesis: Review of human and experimental animal studies. *J Carcinog* **8**, 5 (2009).
- 46 Wang, Y. *et al.* Antioxidant Properties of Probiotic Bacteria. *Nutrients* **9**, doi:10.3390/nu9050521 (2017).
- 47 Cespedes Feliciano, E. M. *et al.* Metabolic Dysfunction, Obesity, and Survival Among Patients With Early-Stage Colorectal Cancer. *J Clin Oncol* **34**, 3664-3671, doi:10.1200/JCO.2016.67.4473 (2016).
- 48 Jin, T. Why diabetes patients are more prone to the development of colon cancer? *Med Hypotheses* **71**, 241-244, doi:10.1016/j.mehy.2008.03.025 (2008).
- 49 Zhao, J., Nakaguchi, T. & Gregersen, H. Biomechanical and histomorphometric colon remodelling in STZ-induced diabetic rats. *Dig Dis Sci* **54**, 1636-1642, doi:10.1007/s10620-008-0540-3 (2009).
- 50 Furlan, M. M., Molinari, S. L. & Miranda Neto, M. H. Morphoquantitative effects of acute diabetes on the myenteric neurons of the proximal colon of adult rats. *Arq Neuropsiquiatr* **60**, 576-581 (2002).
- 51 Siegman, M. J., Eto, M. & Butler, T. M. Remodeling of the rat distal colon in diabetes: function and ultrastructure. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* **310**, C151-160, doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00253.2015 (2016).
- 52 Wideroff, L. *et al.* Cancer incidence in a population-based cohort of patients hospitalized with diabetes mellitus in Denmark. *J Natl Cancer Inst* **89**, 1360-1365 (1997).
- 53 Sciacca, L. *et al.* Clinical and molecular mechanisms favoring cancer initiation and progression in diabetic patients. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis* **23**, 808-815, doi:10.1016/j.numecd.2013.05.006 (2013).
- 54 Swerdlow, A. J. *et al.* Cancer incidence and mortality in patients with insulin-treated diabetes: a UK cohort study. *Br J Cancer* **92**, 2070-2075, doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6602611 (2005).
- 55 Vigneri, P., Frasca, F., Sciacca, L., Pandini, G. & Vigneri, R. Diabetes and cancer. *Endocr Relat Cancer* **16**, 1103-1123, doi:10.1677/ERC-09-0087 (2009).
- 56 Jeon, J. Y. *et al.* Impact of diabetes on oncologic outcome of colorectal cancer patients: colon vs. rectal cancer. *PLoS One* **8**, e55196, doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0055196 (2013).
- 57 Powell, S. M. *et al.* Molecular diagnosis of familial adenomatous polyposis. *N Engl J Med* **329**, 1982-1987, doi:10.1056/NEJM199312303292702 (1993).
- 58 Shih, I. M. *et al.* Evidence that genetic instability occurs at an early stage of colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cancer Res* **61**, 818-822 (2001).
- 59 Arber, N. *et al.* Increased expression of cyclin D1 is an early event in multistage colorectal carcinogenesis. *Gastroenterology* **110**, 669-674 (1996).
- 60 Thomas, D. C., Umar, A. & Kunkel, T. A. Microsatellite instability and mismatch repair defects in cancer. *Mutat Res* **350**, 201-205 (1996).

- 61 Ricciardiello, L. *et al.* High thymidylate synthase expression in colorectal cancer with microsatellite instability: implications for chemotherapeutic strategies. *Clin Cancer Res* **11**, 4234-4240, doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0141 (2005).
- 62 Siddiqui, A. A. *et al.* Elevated HbA1c is an independent predictor of aggressive clinical behavior in patients with colorectal cancer: a case-control study. *Dig Dis Sci* **53**, 2486-2494, doi:10.1007/s10620-008-0264-4 (2008).
- 63 Jee, S. H. *et al.* Fasting serum glucose level and cancer risk in Korean men and women. *JAMA* **293**, 194-202, doi:10.1001/jama.293.2.194 (2005).
- 64 Currie, C. J., Poole, C. D., Evans, M., Peters, J. R. & Morgan, C. L. Mortality and other important diabetes-related outcomes with insulin vs other antihyperglycemic therapies in type 2 diabetes. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* **98**, 668-677, doi:10.1210/jc.2012-3042 (2013).
- 65 Rosato, V. *et al.* Type 2 Diabetes, Antidiabetic Medications, and Colorectal Cancer Risk: Two Case-Control Studies from Italy and Spain. *Front Oncol* **6**, 210, doi:10.3389/fonc.2016.00210 (2016).
- Giouleme, O., Diamantidis, M. D. & Katsaros, M. G. Is diabetes a causal agent for colorectal cancer? Pathophysiological and molecular mechanisms. *World J Gastroenterol* 17, 444-448, doi:10.3748/wjg.v17.i4.444 (2011).
- 67 Nagel, J. M. & Goke, B. [Colorectal carcinoma screening in patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus]. *Z Gastroenterol* **44**, 1153-1165, doi:10.1055/s-2006-927132 (2006).
- 68 Young, V. B. & Schmidt, T. M. Overview of the gastrointestinal microbiota. *Adv Exp Med Biol* **635**, 29-40, doi:10.1007/978-0-387-09550-9\_3 (2008).
- 69 Jahani-Sherafat, S., Alebouyeh, M., Moghim, S., Ahmadi Amoli, H. & Ghasemian-Safaei, H. Role of gut microbiota in the pathogenesis of colorectal cancer; a review article. *Gastroenterol Hepatol Bed Bench* **11**, 101-109 (2018).
- 70 Aw, W. & Fukuda, S. Understanding the role of the gut ecosystem in diabetes mellitus. *J Diabetes Investig* **9**, 5-12, doi:10.1111/jdi.12673 (2018).
- 71 Li, X., Watanabe, K. & Kimura, I. Gut Microbiota Dysbiosis Drives and Implies Novel Therapeutic Strategies for Diabetes Mellitus and Related Metabolic Diseases. *Front Immunol* **8**, 1882, doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.01882 (2017).
- 72 Dahmus, J. D., Kotler, D. L., Kastenberg, D. M. & Kistler, C. A. The gut microbiome and colorectal cancer: a review of bacterial pathogenesis. *J Gastrointest Oncol* **9**, 769-777, doi:10.21037/jgo.2018.04.07 (2018).
- 73 Navab-Moghadam, F. *et al.* The association of type II diabetes with gut microbiota composition. *Microb Pathog* **110**, 630-636, doi:10.1016/j.micpath.2017.07.034 (2017).
- 74 Ohira, H., Tsutsui, W. & Fujioka, Y. Are Short Chain Fatty Acids in Gut Microbiota Defensive Players for Inflammation and Atherosclerosis? *J Atheroscler Thromb* **24**, 660-672, doi:10.5551/jat.RV17006 (2017).
- 75 Han, A., Bennett, N., Ahmed, B., Whelan, J. & Donohoe, D. R. Butyrate decreases its own oxidation in colorectal cancer cells through inhibition of histone deacetylases. *Oncotarget* **9**, 27280-27292, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.25546 (2018).
- 76 Gomes, S. D. *et al.* The Role of Diet Related Short-Chain Fatty Acids in Colorectal Cancer Metabolism and Survival: Prevention and Therapeutic Implications. *Curr Med Chem*, doi:10.2174/0929867325666180530102050 (2018).
- Azad, M. A. K., Sarker, M., Li, T. & Yin, J. Probiotic Species in the Modulation of Gut Microbiota: An Overview. *Biomed Res Int* 2018, 9478630, doi:10.1155/2018/9478630 (2018).
- 78 Riviere, A., Selak, M., Lantin, D., Leroy, F. & De Vuyst, L. Bifidobacteria and Butyrate-Producing Colon Bacteria: Importance and Strategies for Their Stimulation in the Human Gut. *Front Microbiol* **7**, 979, doi:10.3389/fmicb.2016.00979 (2016).

- 79 Denton, D. & Kumar, S. Autophagy-dependent cell death. *Cell Death Differ* **26**, 605-616, doi:10.1038/s41418-018-0252-y (2019).
- Yang, J. S. *et al.* Autophagy and its link to type II diabetes mellitus. *Biomedicine (Taipei)*7, 8, doi:10.1051/bmdcn/2017070201 (2017).
- 81 Burada, F. *et al.* Autophagy in colorectal cancer: An important switch from physiology to pathology. *World J Gastrointest Oncol* **7**, 271-284, doi:10.4251/wjgo.v7.i11.271 (2015).
- 82 Bhattacharya, D., Mukhopadhyay, M., Bhattacharyya, M. & Karmakar, P. Is autophagy associated with diabetes mellitus and its complications? A review. *EXCLI J* **17**, 709-720, doi:10.17179/excli2018-1353 (2018).
- 83 Menon, M. B. & Dhamija, S. Beclin 1 Phosphorylation at the Center of Autophagy Regulation. *Front Cell Dev Biol* **6**, 137, doi:10.3389/fcell.2018.00137 (2018).
- 84 Tanida, I., Ueno, T. & Kominami, E. LC3 and Autophagy. *Methods Mol Biol* **445**, 77-88, doi:10.1007/978-1-59745-157-4\_4 (2008).
- 85 Otomo, C., Metlagel, Z., Takaesu, G. & Otomo, T. Structure of the human ATG12~ATG5 conjugate required for LC3 lipidation in autophagy. *Nat Struct Mol Biol* **20**, 59-66, doi:10.1038/nsmb.2431 (2013).
- 86 Rivera, J. F., Costes, S., Gurlo, T., Glabe, C. G. & Butler, P. C. Autophagy defends pancreatic beta cells from human islet amyloid polypeptide-induced toxicity. *J Clin Invest* **124**, 3489-3500, doi:10.1172/JCI71981 (2014).
- 87 Fujitani, Y., Kawamori, R. & Watada, H. The role of autophagy in pancreatic beta-cell and diabetes. *Autophagy* **5**, 280-282 (2009).
- 88 Bedard, K. & Krause, K. H. The NOX family of ROS-generating NADPH oxidases: physiology and pathophysiology. *Physiol Rev* **87**, 245-313, doi:10.1152/physrev.00044.2005 (2007).
- 89 Droge, W. Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. *Physiol Rev* **82**, 47-95, doi:10.1152/physrev.00018.2001 (2002).
- 90 Singh, V. P., Bali, A., Singh, N. & Jaggi, A. S. Advanced glycation end products and diabetic complications. *Korean J Physiol Pharmacol* **18**, 1-14, doi:10.4196/kjpp.2014.18.1.1 (2014).
- 91 Eid, A. A. *et al.* AMP-activated protein kinase (AMPK) negatively regulates Nox4dependent activation of p53 and epithelial cell apoptosis in diabetes. *J Biol Chem* **285**, 37503-37512, doi:10.1074/jbc.M110.136796 (2010).
- 92 Kowluru, R. A. & Kennedy, A. Therapeutic potential of anti-oxidants and diabetic retinopathy. *Expert Opin Investig Drugs* **10**, 1665-1676, doi:10.1517/13543784.10.9.1665 (2001).
- 93 Valko, M., Rhodes, C. J., Moncol, J., Izakovic, M. & Mazur, M. Free radicals, metals and antioxidants in oxidative stress-induced cancer. *Chem Biol Interact* **160**, 1-40, doi:10.1016/j.cbi.2005.12.009 (2006).
- 94 Prasad, S., Gupta, S. C. & Tyagi, A. K. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) and cancer: Role of antioxidative nutraceuticals. *Cancer Lett* **387**, 95-105, doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2016.03.042 (2017).
- 95 Panday, A., Sahoo, M. K., Osorio, D. & Batra, S. NADPH oxidases: an overview from structure to innate immunity-associated pathologies. *Cell Mol Immunol* **12**, 5-23, doi:10.1038/cmi.2014.89 (2015).
- 96 Cifuentes, M. E. & Pagano, P. J. Targeting reactive oxygen species in hypertension. *Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens* 15, 179-186, doi:10.1097/01.mnh.0000214776.19233.68 (2006).
- Volpe, C. M. O., Villar-Delfino, P. H., Dos Anjos, P. M. F. & Nogueira-Machado, J. A. Cellular death, reactive oxygen species (ROS) and diabetic complications. *Cell Death Dis* 9, 119, doi:10.1038/s41419-017-0135-z (2018).

- 98 Storz, P. Reactive oxygen species in tumor progression. *Front Biosci* **10**, 1881-1896 (2005).
- 99 Mochizuki, T. *et al.* Inhibition of NADPH oxidase 4 activates apoptosis via the AKT/apoptosis signal-regulating kinase 1 pathway in pancreatic cancer PANC-1 cells. *Oncogene* **25**, 3699-3707, doi:10.1038/sj.onc.1209406 (2006).
- 100 Yamaura, M. *et al.* NADPH oxidase 4 contributes to transformation phenotype of melanoma cells by regulating G2-M cell cycle progression. *Cancer Res* **69**, 2647-2654, doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-3745 (2009).
- 101 Tobar, N., Guerrero, J., Smith, P. C. & Martinez, J. NOX4-dependent ROS production by stromal mammary cells modulates epithelial MCF-7 cell migration. *Br J Cancer* **103**, 1040-1047, doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6605847 (2010).
- 102 Mondol, A. S., Tonks, N. K. & Kamata, T. Nox4 redox regulation of PTP1B contributes to the proliferation and migration of glioblastoma cells by modulating tyrosine phosphorylation of coronin-1C. *Free Radic Biol Med* **67**, 285-291, doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.11.005 (2014).
- 103 Bauer, K. M., Watts, T. N., Buechler, S. & Hummon, A. B. Proteomic and functional investigation of the colon cancer relapse-associated genes NOX4 and ITGA3. *J Proteome Res* **13**, 4910-4918, doi:10.1021/pr500557n (2014).
- 104 Lin, X. L. *et al.* Overexpression of NOX4 predicts poor prognosis and promotes tumor progression in human colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget* **8**, 33586-33600, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.16829 (2017).
- 105 Zhang, C. *et al.* NOX4 promotes non-small cell lung cancer cell proliferation and metastasis through positive feedback regulation of PI3K/Akt signaling. *Oncotarget* **5**, 4392-4405, doi:10.18632/oncotarget.2025 (2014).
- 106 Helfinger, V. *et al.* The NADPH Oxidase Nox4 mediates tumour angiogenesis. *Acta Physiol (Oxf)* **216**, 435-446, doi:10.1111/apha.12625 (2016).
- 107 Zhu, P. *et al.* Nox4-dependent ROS modulation by amino endoperoxides to induce apoptosis in cancer cells. *Cell Death Dis* **4**, e552, doi:10.1038/cddis.2013.68 (2013).
- 108 Lee, P., Vousden, K. H. & Cheung, E. C. TIGAR, TIGAR, burning bright. *Cancer Metab* 2, 1, doi:10.1186/2049-3002-2-1 (2014).
- 109 Mallipattu, S. K. *et al.* Diabetic nephropathy in a nonobese mouse model of type 2 diabetes mellitus. *Am J Physiol Renal Physiol* **306**, F1008-1017, doi:10.1152/ajprenal.00597.2013 (2014).
- 110 McCart, A. E., Vickaryous, N. K. & Silver, A. Apc mice: models, modifiers and mutants. *Pathol Res Pract* **204**, 479-490, doi:10.1016/j.prp.2008.03.004 (2008).
- 111 Cohen, E., Ophir, I. & Shaul, Y. B. Induced differentiation in HT29, a human colon adenocarcinoma cell line. *J Cell Sci* **112** (**Pt 16**), 2657-2666 (1999).
- 112 Gorin, Y. & Block, K. Nox4 and diabetic nephropathy: with a friend like this, who needs enemies? *Free Radic Biol Med* **61**, 130-142, doi:10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2013.03.014 (2013).
- 113 Bensaad, K. *et al.* TIGAR, a p53-inducible regulator of glycolysis and apoptosis. *Cell* **126**, 107-120, doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.05.036 (2006).
- 114 Domenech, A. *et al.* Morphofunctional changes underlying intestinal dysmotility in diabetic RIP-I/hIFNbeta transgenic mice. *Int J Exp Pathol* **92**, 400-412, doi:10.1111/j.1365-2613.2011.00789.x (2011).
- 115 Tak, K. H., Ahn, E. & Kim, E. Increase in dietary protein content exacerbates colonic inflammation and tumorigenesis in azoxymethane-induced mouse colon carcinogenesis. *Nutr Res Pract* **11**, 281-289, doi:10.4162/nrp.2017.11.4.281 (2017).

- 116 Hold, G. L., Pryde, S. E., Russell, V. J., Furrie, E. & Flint, H. J. Assessment of microbial diversity in human colonic samples by 16S rDNA sequence analysis. *FEMS Microbiol Ecol* **39**, 33-39, doi:10.1111/j.1574-6941.2002.tb00904.x (2002).
- 117 Gao, Z. *et al.* Probiotics modify human intestinal mucosa-associated microbiota in patients with colorectal cancer. *Mol Med Rep* **12**, 6119-6127, doi:10.3892/mmr.2015.4124 (2015).
- 118 Danquah, K. O. *et al.* Mucin expression patterns in histological grades of colonic cancers in Ghanaian population. *Pan Afr Med J* **27**, 267, doi:10.11604/pamj.2017.27.267.9793 (2017).
- 119 Zheng, H. Y., Zhang, X. Y., Wang, X. F. & Sun, B. C. Autophagy enhances the aggressiveness of human colorectal cancer cells and their ability to adapt to apoptotic stimulus. *Cancer Biol Med* **9**, 105-110, doi:10.3969/j.issn.2095-3941.2012.02.004 (2012).
- 120 Tang, Y., Chen, Y., Jiang, H. & Nie, D. Short-chain fatty acids induced autophagy serves as an adaptive strategy for retarding mitochondria-mediated apoptotic cell death. *Cell Death Differ* **18**, 602-618, doi:10.1038/cdd.2010.117 (2011).
- 121 Schulthess, J. *et al.* The Short Chain Fatty Acid Butyrate Imprints an Antimicrobial Program in Macrophages. *Immunity* **50**, 432-445 e437, doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2018.12.018 (2019).
- 122 Han, C. *et al.* The Role of Probiotics in Lipopolysaccharide-Induced Autophagy in Intestinal Epithelial Cells. *Cell Physiol Biochem* **38**, 2464-2478, doi:10.1159/000445597 (2016).
- 123 Kang, M. R. *et al.* Frameshift mutations of autophagy-related genes ATG2B, ATG5, ATG9B and ATG12 in gastric and colorectal cancers with microsatellite instability. *J Pathol* **217**, 702-706, doi:10.1002/path.2509 (2009).
- 124 Cho, D. H., Jo, Y. K., Kim, S. C., Park, I. J. & Kim, J. C. Down-regulated expression of ATG5 in colorectal cancer. *Anticancer Res* **32**, 4091-4096 (2012).
- 125 Koukourakis, M. I. *et al.* Beclin 1 over- and underexpression in colorectal cancer: distinct patterns relate to prognosis and tumour hypoxia. *Br J Cancer* **103**, 1209-1214, doi:10.1038/sj.bjc.6605904 (2010).
- 126 Wu, Y. *et al.* Probiotic Bacillus amyloliquefaciens SC06 Induces Autophagy to Protect against Pathogens in Macrophages. *Front Microbiol* **8**, 469, doi:10.3389/fmicb.2017.00469 (2017).
- 127 Pant, K., Saraya, A. & Venugopal, S. K. Oxidative stress plays a key role in butyratemediated autophagy via Akt/mTOR pathway in hepatoma cells. *Chem Biol Interact* **273**, 99-106, doi:10.1016/j.cbi.2017.06.001 (2017).
- 128 Hakami, N. Y., Dusting, G. J. & Peshavariya, H. M. Trichostatin A, a histone deacetylase inhibitor suppresses NADPH Oxidase 4-Derived Redox Signalling and Angiogenesis. *J Cell Mol Med* **20**, 1932-1944, doi:10.1111/jcmm.12885 (2016).
- 129 Bordalo Tonucci, L. *et al.* Gut microbiota and probiotics: Focus on diabetes mellitus. *Crit Rev Food Sci Nutr* **57**, 2296-2309, doi:10.1080/10408398.2014.934438 (2017).